



Execution IS the Strategy

How Leaders Achieve Maximum Results in Minimum Time

Before the Great Recession and the banking crisis, many businesses planned strategic execution as far ahead as three to five years. That approach would never fly in today's reconfigured business world. Flexibility and agility are the rule now: Leadership must learn to adapt, trust their front-line employees, and allow them to choose a winning strategy that works in the here and now: not what worked five years ago, five months ago, even five minutes ago. Execution itself has become the strategy. In this ebook, adapted from her book *Execution IS the Strategy*, Productivity Pro® Laura Stack outlines a logical methodology for conducting business in the modern world, where change always lurks on the horizon and where those who cannot adapt will rapidly go the way of the dinosaur.

© 2014 by Laura Stack. All rights reserved. You may forward this ebook to others, provided it is sent in its entirety. For permission to excerpt, email <u>Becca@TheProductivityPro.com</u>.

Published by Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc., San Francisco, CA.

ISBN-10: 1609949684 ISBN-13: 978-1609949686

Printed in the United States of America

(303) 471-7401 9948 Cottoncreek Drive Highlands Ranch, CO 80130 Laura@TheProductivityPro.com www.TheProductivityPro.com



ALSO BY LAURA STACK

What to Do When There's Too Much to Do: Reduce Tasks, Increase Results, and Save 90 Minutes a Day (Berrett-Koehler, 2012)

SuperCompetent: The Six Keys to Perform at Your Productive Best (Wiley, 2010)

The Exhaustion Cure: Up Your Energy from Low to Go in 21 Days (Broadway Books, 2008)

Find More Time: How to Get Things Done at Home, Organize Your Life, and Feel Great About It (Broadway Books, 2006)

Leave the Office Earlier: How to Do More in Less Time and Feel Great About It (Broadway Books, 2004)



Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	5
Strategic Planning Is So Yesterday, But Execution Is Always in Style	5
The Four Premises of Strategy	
Four Keys to Efficient Strategic Execution	
The Four Roles of a Leader and Leadership Development Opportunities	
Organization of This Book	
0	
The Execution Quotient (EQ) Assessment	
PART 1	
PART 2	
PART 3	
PART 4	
L-E-A-D Formula [™] Execution Quotient Score Sheet	
Scoring Key	
8 .	
PART 1: LEVERAGE	
Chapter 1: Maximize Your Leadership Input Force	
Chapter 2: Strengthen the Beam	
Chapter 3: Improve the Fulcrum	
onap to 1 on 1 and 1 an	
PART 2: ENVIRONMENT	
Chapter 4: Shape the Culture	
Chapter 5: Encourage Change Hardiness	
Chapter 6: Ensure Engaged, Empowered Employees	
PART 3: ALIGNMENT	
Chapter 7: Take Your Team on a Mission	
Chapter 8: Plan for Goal Achievement	
Chapter 9: Measure Your Progress	
r	
PART 4: DRIVE	
Chapter 10: Remove Obstacles from the Path	
Chapter 11: Add Enablers to the Equation	
Chapter 12: Eliminate Time Wasters	
r	
CONCLUSION	
Educational Resources from Laura Stack and The Productivity Pro, Inc	
For More Information	
	===



INTRODUCTION

Strategic Planning Is So Yesterday, But Execution Is Always in Style

You've done your off-site strategy session, enjoyed the golf outing, and then took off on vacation. You're feeling well-rested, glowing with a sense of accomplishment. But it's been four weeks, and you still haven't briefed your directors and managers on your stellar strategy. So what do you actually have? *No* strategy. It's a nice thought; it looks good; you crossed it off your list. But here's the reality: You are General Custer, and five thousand Indian ponies are bearing down on you from all directions. Your troops don't know what to do. Dust fills their eyes – and yours.

If you want to avoid a massacre, don't put down this book. In it, you'll learn how to arm your troops more effectively and help them execute strategy on the front lines — because you can't fire their guns for them.

The Four Premises of Strategy

Like the old gray mare of legend, strategic execution just ain't what it used to be – a point that hit home repeatedly as I conducted interviews with high-level executives in a number of industries.

Ideally, a strategic plan serves as a vehicle for continually reminding executives and other organizational leaders to evaluate the direction of their businesses according to their overall goals. But this doesn't always happen. Why? Because there's barely enough time to stop and take a breath anymore — much less implement a tool that may be stale before it's a month old.

Today leaders lean on their team members – the troops on the front lines – to help them make solid, reliable decisions on how to best execute the objectives that advance the ultimate organizational strategy. Hence the title of this book: *Execution IS the Strategy*.

It builds on four basic premises: interdependency, fluidity, speed, and validity.

I doubt anyone reading this book will disagree with these premises, because you've observed the truths in your business. Let's take a look at them more closely and see how they affect strategic execution.



- 1. *Interdependency*. Strategy and tactics are part of the same over-arching process, with an inherent relationship.
- 2. Fluidity. Strategy must be more flexible in its tactics now than in the past.
- 3. *Speed.* Strategy must be executed more quickly than ever before to be effective.
- 4. *Validity*. Strategy must still be appropriate and strong, or none of the first three premises matter.

Interdependency

Understanding how goals, strategies, and tactics interrelate can be confusing, so let's lay out some operational definitions.

A *goal* is something you want to accomplish within a specific time frame (sometimes interchangeably called a strategic objective or a strategic priority). *Strategy* is your longterm plan or alternative methods of accomplishing that goal. *Tactics* are the short-term actions required to fulfill a selected strategy. *Execution* is the process of moving from the statement of a goal to the completion of a tactic. In its most simplistic sense, I define execution as moving from a goal to a check mark. Efficient execution, then, is the shortest distance between a goal and a check mark, while effective execution is the most profitable outcome of the distance between a goal and a check mark. Efficiency and effectiveness aren't always the same thing, as you know. In this book, you'll note my bias toward efficiency, and in most cases I'll assume you have an effective strategy. I am not a strategist; I am an efficiency expert.

This simple example lends clarity. Let's say your goal is to get to your office safely and quickly. One strategy may be to "avoid traffic jams." Potential tactics for accomplishing this strategy may include biking to work, leaving early to avoid traffic, checking the traffic on your GPS before setting out, taking the back streets, riding the bus, or hopping on the subway or light rail. Depending on the intersection of these tactics and a variety of other factors (road conditions, weather, distance, convenience, hassle, etc.), your tactics may vary daily.

A carpool might allow you to work during the commute (an efficient use of time), but you're limited in your flexibility to leave early (and therefore not very effective). If you plan to head to the Great American Beer Festival in downtown Denver after work and enjoy a few beers while there, you may decide taking the light rail to and from downtown that day will be the best way to accomplish your goal. In addition, deciding a month in advance that you'll take the local E-470 bypass to the airport won't work if you wake up that day and find it under construction. You'll need to implement an alternate tactic to execute your strategy in the moment. In other words, tactics can vary daily and, in fact, by the minute. This is the crux of trying to plan a strategy further ahead than a day or so, because our environment changes so quickly.



During my tenure on the board of the National Speakers Association (I was the 2011–2012 NSA President), I participated in many "strategic planning" sessions. NSA board members would determine where the association should be in three years and give the staff its marching orders, all the way down to the tactical "to-do" plan. We would really get into the weeds with all the detail. The following year, NSA staff members reported what they actually did, which wasn't what we board members (in our infinite wisdom) had dictated. The staff reacted to opportunities that often weren't in the plan. They were the ones with their feet on the street and their ears to the ground, so this was perfectly appropriate. Telling them what to do from afar wasn't the best strategy. We were paying them to think.

Perhaps in your organization, once upon a time, leadership considered strategy and operations to be separate functions, just as we did. Sometimes they still do. Senior executives conducted "Strategy" with outside consultants during week-long, cabin-in-the-woods retreats, and "Operations" was the downstream piece. The leaders would decide what to do going forward, and the troops would carry out their wishes.

When an organization sees an opportunity or realizes a threat, it can't apply the same old change process that worked years ago. That process is no longer capable of winning in today's fast-paced business environment. By the time you've written your strategic plan and the printer has cooled down, it's already out of date. Goals, strategy, tactics, and execution should be part of the same dynamic process – implementing long-term priorities through short-term, daily operations.

Fluidity

As a leader, it's important to articulate the organization's strategy clearly — indeed, you must be specific in your definition of what constitutes "success." That said, the strategy itself must be extremely fluid in its tactics, so the frontline workers are encouraged to determine how best to achieve it. You'll realize better results if you create an agile culture full of flexible, strategic thinkers who remain focused on the overall goals and the roles they play in achieving them. They must be willing to both entertain and implement new tactics for doing so, even with minimal warning.

In today's business world, leaders usher in change by fostering risk-taking and creativity. Operations adjust to achieve strategic priorities dynamically, often creating the future in the moment. Company leaders lick a finger and stick it in the air to determine where the winds of change are blowing. From there, they quickly shift direction to catch the breeze and fill the sails. In an effective change process, leaders communicate the organization's strategic priorities directly to all team members. They in turn share their ideas on how to make it happen, and the team drives it through.



Listen to the folks who execute, make their work easier, and support them in continually finding and pursuing new strategies.

As leader, you're the disturber, the cheerleader, the coach, and the #1 supporter of your team.

You enable your team to lead the charge.

Workers have actually been innovating in this way for many years, but leaders haven't always been good at asking for it or realizing it. They're now saying, "Wow, maybe I'll just get out of their way and let them take me where we need to go." While there must still be a leader to articulate the vision — that is, leaders should set the priorities — workers should tell them how to get there.

As a leader, it's up to you to design a culture in which your people are willing to step up and take that initiative. Most workplaces, no matter how enlightened, still require a great deal of work to create such a culture, and thereby instill the needed behaviors to make this change. But that work is necessary, even critical, because it all comes down to this: your team must be free to determine how to best achieve success. That means they need the tools, training, and guidance to achieve well-defined success criteria.

Speed

I don't need to point out how much faster the business environment changes today than it did even a few years ago. In response to the speed of change, workplace strategy needs to evolve much faster now than in the past. Achieving maximum results requires faster goal-setting and organic strategic execution. Your commitment to fostering agile, adaptive execution will make it easier to reshape organizational priorities in the moment.

For example, my office manager, Becca, recently attended a webinar on online strategy for small businesses. In typical Becca fashion, she immediately shot me a memo with what she learned and what we should do. For example, the presenter pointed out a current trend of using photos to reflect brand and personality versus the old staid headshot. Instead of asking permission, Becca took the initiative and sent me a meeting invitation with an appointment with our photographer for a photo shoot. ("Is she trying to tell me something?" I wondered as I accepted.)

The webinar presenter also said our websites should be relationship-oriented, mobile, and commerce-ready for handheld devices. In our one-on-one meeting later that week, Becca briefed me on the changes we were making to our site, outlining her plan in ten



minutes. She would direct our marketing consultant to work on the site map, ask our IT guy to outline the move to WordPress, and get three proofs from the designer to review. I asked her the price tag, blinked, and gave her the thumbs-up. And that was it.

From a tactical perspective, a new "eureka" opportunity may suddenly bubble up and alter the focus and time expenditure of your strategic plan. One of my strategic priorities was to "Build The Productivity Pro, Inc. brand." I didn't know our company's website needed an overhaul to support that strategy, but *boom*, we're executing Project Revamp Website Strategy. This didn't happen because it was time to do strategic planning. Rather, a team member made the decision organically when it became obvious a tactical change was necessary to support the strategy. She came to me for resources and approval, and I got out of her way.

As a result, I had to push other tasks back in favor of this new project – that's where your team often needs your support. Periodically, leaders get together for a reality check on direction based on the movement in their areas. They share what they're working on, adjust the course if needed, and take off again.

Admittedly, because I head up a small firm, I can make decisions independently and turn on a dime, so my team can execute more quickly than a Fortune 500 company can. However, my clients in large corporations want to model this nimbleness, because it's absolutely necessary for their success. Don't just tell me, "That's the way it is around here." Nothing makes me crazier, and nothing fails faster.

Here's what leaders must tell their team members: "When you think of a great idea or come face to face with a new opportunity, don't wait three weeks to tell me about it in our next meeting. Get on the phone with me now." If you do a good job communicating the vision, the thoughts and actions of your team members begin to align with your organization's strategic objectives. Empower your team to act quickly! Never be too busy to hear about an idea or an improvement.

Validity

The best leaders have a vision for the future, which arrives daily. To quickly implement great ideas, you must do these two things well:

- 1. Identify the strategic priorities that will drive the business forward.
- 2. Take action on them quickly by leveraging your people and resources.

A huge caveat: You still must have a viable strategy, one that can actually achieve quantifiable goals within your constraints of time and cost. You also need to keep an eye on how well it's working, so you can refine your course as needed.



For example, as an author, the demise of Borders bookstores in late 2011 saddened me. What happened? Unlike its competitor Barnes & Noble, Borders failed to properly account for the risks presented by online book distribution. It's not that Borders didn't have a strategy; its strategy just didn't work well. The changes were coming, the writing was on the wall, and its leaders recognized the need for a strategic shift. However, they chose a bad strategy. No amount of fast action will get you out of trouble if you're speeding in the wrong direction. Clearly, Borders simply couldn't react fast enough. It stood by watching as other companies nibbled on the edges of its market and ultimately shut it down.

The bottom line is simple: There is no shortage of good ideas. It's not about who has the best ideas; it's about who executes their good ideas best.

Four Keys to Efficient Strategic Execution

In more than twenty years of helping leaders create high-performance cultures and accelerate growth, I've identified four key factors that must be in place for a leader to execute strategy efficiently. Without these elements, an execution can fail – even when you base it on a mature, effective strategy. The Four Keys to Efficient Strategic Execution – Leverage, Environment, Alignment, and Drive – represent solutions to these failures and form the L-E-A-D Formula[™] outlined in this book.

The LEAD Formula

- *L* = *Leverage:* Do you have the right people and drivers in place to achieve your strategic priorities ones that allow you to execute your strategy when the rubber hits the road? If not, then you have a talent/resource issue.
- *E* = *Environment*: Do you have the organizational atmosphere, practices, and culture that will allow your employees to easily support your strategic priorities? If not, you have a cultural/engagement issue.
- *A* = *Alignment*: Do your team members' daily activities move them toward the accomplishment of the organization's ultimate goals? If not, then you have a communication/productivity issue.

D = *Drive*: Are your organization's leaders, teams, and employees agile enough to move quickly once the first three pieces of this list are in place? If not, you have a speed/agility issue



The L-E-A-D Formula represents real-world implementations of the four premises outlined at the beginning of this introduction as they relate to on-the-spot, flexible strategic execution.

Most leaders find their organization is weaker in one or two areas. When you take the assessment that follows this introduction, you'll determine which key(s) you need to strengthen in your own individual business. When I'm invited to speak at a corporate meeting, I ask the audience members to take the assessment online, so I can compile the cumulative scores. By seeing the perceptions of the group overall, leaders can take action as a whole.

The Four Roles of a Leader and Leadership Development Opportunities

Each of the Four Keys has a corresponding leadership role and a leadership development opportunity:

Key	Principle	Leadership Role	Leadership Development Opportunity
L	Leverage	Engineer: Build It	Talent/Resources
Ε	Environment	Mechanic: Fix It	Culture/Engagement
Α	Alignment	Conductor: Steer It	Communication/Productivity
D	Drive	Bulldozer: Knock It Down	Speed/Agility

Organization of This Book

The L-E-A-D Formula's Four Keys correspond with the four sections of this book, to help you readily identify which Key might represent your biggest leadership challenge. Each Part has three chapters, so if you hosted a book club with your team, you could discuss the book in three months (see TheProductivityPro.com/execution for complimentary discussion and leader guides).

Part 1, "Leverage," explores how to employ the concept of leverage to apply a stronger force as leader, strengthen your "levers" (employees), and improve your "fulcrum."

Part 2, "Environment," explores the importance of shaping an agile, responsive organizational culture, encouraging change hardiness in your team members, and engaging employees.



Part 3, "Alignment," shows you how to convince team members to care about your goals, define what the goal will be, and determine how to get there.

Part 4, "Drive," focuses on your team's path to productivity. It includes how to remove obstacles from their paths, speed things up, and remove time wasters.

Keep this in mind: Leaders should work with their people to build effective business strategies in real time. You may not have time for strategic planning as such, but you should always make time to build an organizational culture that's adept at strategic execution.

By the time you finish reviewing each of the Four Keys, you'll see that execution really *is* the strategy that will propel your organization forward in today's fast-paced business arena.

Visit <u>www.ExecutionIsTheStrategy.com</u> to receive complimentary bonus material, videos, articles for reprint, worksheets, and book club materials.



By Laura Stack

The Execution Quotient (EQ) Assessment

Use the statements for each chapter listed below to complete the question "To what extent do I \dots ?" Answer each using the following scale:

1 = to no extent

- 2 = to a small extent
- 3 =to some extent
- 4 = to a considerable extent

5 =to a great extent

PART 1

	<i>Chapter 1: Maximize Your Input</i> Put More Power into the Lev		2					
1.	Delegate my authority as effectively and widely as possible; I don't do what others on my team are capable of doing.	1	2	3	4	5		
2.	Guide and oversee the work of my team; I avoid micromanagement and demonstrate trust.	1	2	3	4	5		
3.	Lead by example; I model the behaviors I expect from others.	1	2	3	4	5		
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS $1-3$:							
	Chapter 2: Strengthen the Beam Move More Weight with Your Lever							
4.	Identify and hire high-performance workers; I know what attributes are needed to meet my future talent requirements.	1	2	3	4	5		
5.	Take the time to coach my team members; I connect them with experienced mentors.	1	2	3	4	5		
6.	Consistently provide my team members with the training they need to increase their personal performance; I invest in my key talent.	1	2	3	4	5		
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS #4-6:							
	<i>Chapter 3: Improve the Fulcri</i> Multiply the Input Force of Your		er					
7.	Provide my team with the equipment and technology they need to do their jobs better.	1	2	3	4	5		
8.	Emphasize cross-functional thinking among my team members; we work to coordinate goals with other departments and employees.	1	2	3	4	5		

© 2013 Laura Stack, MBA, CSP. All rights reserved. The Productivity Pro®, Inc., 9948 Cottoncreek Drive, Highlands Ranch, CO 80130 USA Phone: (303) 471-7401, Fax: (303) 471-7402, Email: Laura@TheProductivityPro.com



5

9. Outsource tasks that others can do more 1 2 3 4 inexpensively or effectively; I seek partnerships to "fill in the blanks" with expertise I lack.

SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 7–9:

PART 2

	<i>Chapter 4: Shape the Culture</i> Establish an Agile Workplac						
10.	Foster an environment of excellence on my team; I encourage everyone to always give their best.	1	2	3	4	5	
11.	Build a firm foundation of accountability in my team; I emphasize the importance of reliability.	1	2	3	4	5	
12.	Encourage a collaborative atmosphere within my team; I embrace mutual learning and community to maximize success.	1	2	3	4	5	
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 10–12:						
	Chapter 5: Encourage Change Hardiness Embrace and Implement the New						
13.	Embrace change as it occurs and roll with the punches; I actively seek out and usher in change.	1	2	3	4	5	
14.	Create a nonpunitive climate of risk-taking; I encourage innovation and creativity.	1	2	3	4	5	
15.	Emphasize continuous improvement for myself and my entire team; we always strive to get better.	1	2	3	4	5	
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 13–15:						
	Chapter 6: Ensure Engaged, Empowered Encourage Job Ownership	l Emp	oloyees				
16.	Drive engagement among my individual team members; I encourage people to take initiative.	1	2	3	4	5	
17.	Reinforce our joint responsibility to accomplish our team's goals; I demonstrate how individual output contributes to everyone's success.	1	2	3	4	5	
18.	Empower my employees to own their jobs; I provide them with what they need and get out of the way.	1	2	3	4	5	
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 16-18:						



PART 3

	Chapter 7: Take Your Team on a Mission Motivate Your Team							
19.	Understand what motivates each team member to perform at a high level; I know people contribute discretionary effort for different reasons.	1	2	3	4	5		
20.	Show genuine appreciation for hard work; I discover what would be meaningful to each person.	1	2	3	4	5		
21.	Keep a clear picture of our goals in front of my team; I continually create excitement for our mission.	1	2	3	4	5		
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 19–21:							
	Chapter 8: Plan for Goal Achievement Sharpen the Scalpel of Strategic Focus							
22.	Establish clear performance expectations for each person; team members know precisely what they should be doing.	1	2	3	4	5		
23.	Work with my team to establish a plan to achieve our workplace goals; our project management is seamless.	1	2	3	4	5		
24.	Ensure that the day-to-day operations of my team will achieve our long-term goals; we merge strategy and tactics.	1	2	3	4	5		
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 22–24:							
	Chapter 9: Measure Your Progress Create the Road Map for Success							
25.	Tie each person's goals into our performance management system; we track the accomplishment of individual goal attainment.	1	2	3	4	5		
26.	Measure my team's performance at regular intervals; we jointly review our key milestones on a routine basis.	1	2	3	4	5		
27.	Create advance plans for potential crisis; I prepare for contingencies.	1	2	3	4	5		
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 25–27:							



By Laura Stack

PART 4

			ath		Chapter 10: Remove Obstacles from the Path Clear the Path to Execution						
28.	Remove the obstacles that slow my team's execution; I work to clear roadblocks when necessary.	1	2	3	4	5					
29.	Reinforce the need for speed and efficiency; I encourage my team to "turn on a dime."	1	2	3	4	5					
30.	Make speedy decisions; I don't allow over- collaboration or perfectionism to slow us down.	1	2	3	4	5					
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 28–30:										
	Chapter 11: Add Enablers to the Equation Make It Easier for Everyone to Achieve Results										
31.	Help my team members eliminate workplace distractions; I give them time to think, be strategic, and concentrate.	1	2	3	4	5					
32.	Create team protocols to ensure efficient communication; we follow consistent guidelines for instant messaging, e-mail, and conference calls.	1	2	3	4	5					
33.	Work to eliminate activities that fail to support our strategic priorities; I know what we work on is as important as what we don't work on.	1	2	3	4	5					
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 31–33:										
	<i>Chapter 12: Eliminate Time Wasters!</i> Minimize Work Time to Maximize Team Productivity										
34.	Encourage team members to accomplish tasks in order of priority; I keep people focused on results, not activity or busyness.	1	2	3	4	5					
35.	Spend meeting time productively; I keep attendees focused and stick to the agenda.	1	2	3	4	5					
36.	Encourage a reasonable work/life balance; I know overwhelmed people hit a point of diminishing returns.	1	2	3	4	5					
	SUBTOTAL YOUR ANSWERS FOR QUESTIONS 34–36:										



L-E-A-D Formula[™] Execution Quotient Score Sheet

Copy your subtotals from the previous sections and add them up to find your grand total. See the Key below to interpret your score.

Part	Chapter	QUESTION #	QUESTION #	QUESTION #	SUBTOTALS
I LEVERAGE	ONE LEADER- SHIP	1. Delegation	2. Trust	3. Modeling	SUBTOTAL 1-3
	TWO EMPLOY- EES	4. Talent	5. Coaching	6. Training	SUBTOTAL 4-6
	THREE RESOURC- ES	7. Equipment	8. Cross- functionality	9. Partnerships	SUBTOTAL 7-9
				TOTAL PART I QUESTIONS 1-9	
II ENVIRONMENT	FOUR CULTURE	10. Excellence	11. Accountability	12. Collaboration	SUBTTOAL 10-12
	FIVE CHANGE	13. Openness	14. Risk-taking	15. Continuous improvement	SUBTOTAL 13-15
	SIX ENGAGE- MENT	16. Initiative	17. Joint goals	18. Job ownership	SUBTOTAL 16–18
				TOTAL PART II QUESTIONS 10-18	



III	SEVEN	19.	20.	21.	SUBTOTAL
111	MISSION	Motivation	Appreciation	Communica-	19–21
				tion	
ALIGNMENT					
	EIGHT	22.	23.	24.	SUBTOTAL
	PLANNING	Expectations	Project	Tactics	22-24
			planning		
	NINE	25.	26.	27.	SUBTOTAL
	MEASURE-	Performance	Review	Contingency	25–27
	ENT	management	milestones	plans	
				TOTAL PART III QUESTIONS 19-27	
IV	TEN	28.	29.	30.	SUBTOTAL
1 V	OBSTA-	Roadblocks	Urgency	Decision	28-30
	CLES			making	
DRIVE					
	ELEVEN	31.	32.	33.	SUBTOTAL
	ENABLERS	Focus	Protocols	Elimination	31-33
	TWELVE	34.	35.	36.	SUBTOTAL
	TIME WASTERS	Prioritization	Meetings	Life balance	34-36
				TOTAL PART IV QUESTIONS 28-36	
				GRAND TOTAL PARTS I-IV QUESTIONS 1-36	



Scoring Key

151–180: **Congratulations**! You have a deep and effective understanding of strategic execution and know how to achieve it. All you need to do is fine-tune a bit. Keep up the good work!

121–150: **You need a few tweaks here and there**. You're on the right track! Strive to improve any question where you gave yourself less than a "5." Give yourself credit for what you do well and acknowledge where you can improve and save even more time.

91–120: **Average**. You're "middle of the road," which isn't bad, but it's a bit boring. You're not the worst, and you're not the best. But who wants to be average? Work on kicking up your strategic execution efforts a notch, so you can get more done and produce stellar results!

61–90: **Major overhaul required**. You'll need to get serious about changing the way you handle your strategic execution, from setting goals through strategy to execution. Stop working so hard on the wrong things. Select one item on this list every two to three weeks and work on systematically improving your competence level.

36–60: **Danger**! Your productivity and strategic execution skills need a jumpstart, stat! Both your job and your organization's future may depend upon it, so start working hard on the right things right now.

Discussion

The purpose of this quiz is to provide insight into your strategic execution process as you prepare to read this book. Comparing scores on each Part will help you determine which L-E-A-D factor is your weakest link in your process. The reason I've divided it as I have is so that within each particular part, you can delve deeper by comparing the Chapter Subtotals, thereby better understanding which topic you've expressed a weakness in. Even more useful is looking at the individual quiz items with the lowest scores; in fact, those represent your best places to start. This is very much a bottom-up method of continuous improvement – another concept I focus on in this book.

So as you study each chapter, especially those where you've scored poorly, think about how you can improve your process. If your weakest Part of the L-E-A-D process is Leverage, where does the greatest weakness fall: in Leadership, Employees, or Resources? If you have a full slate of 5s except in the Resources Chapter (Chapter Three), where you drop to 4 on Equipment, 2 on Cross-Functionality, and 3 on Partnerships, then it's clear where your first efforts at improvement should lie: with Cross-Functionality. Make a sincere effort to think beyond your desk, to break up information silos on your side of the divide, and to reach out to other groups in a



collaborative, mutually beneficial manner. Then you can start working on your Partnership Flaws, before polishing up the Equipment issues, gradually bringing everything up to 5.

Once you're happy with your new results, move on to another unsatisfactory function and work on bringing it up to par. While I would normally tell you to focus on improving what you're already good at – i.e., pushing your scores from good to great rather than wasting time on things you don't excel at – the functions I discuss in this book represent exceptions to that rule. They're so fundamental that they require the maximum level of competence you can bring to bear, in order to strategically execute on the spot so well and so automatically that you ensure the survival of your team.

As you put new concepts successfully into play, return here occasionally and retake the quiz to determine how much you've improved. You should see improvement relatively quickly, and you may not recognize that original you a year from now.



PART 1: LEVERAGE

L	Leverage	Engineer: Build It	Talent/Resources
---	----------	--------------------	------------------

When I was a kid, my younger brother Paul – who later graduated from college with a degree in mechanical engineering – taught me how using a lever could make building a snowman easier.

My father is a retired Air Force colonel. I grew up on the Air Force Academy in Colorado Springs, so I'm used to snow and lots of it. I remember one particularly big snowstorm that closed school and delivered perfect snowball-making snow. Paul and I naturally decided to make an enormous snowman.

We started with a huge base. Then we rolled a middle snowball nearly as large, and quickly discovered it was so heavy we couldn't lift it. So my clever brother grabbed our Radio Flyer wagon and a wooden 2×8 beam from my father's shed. Using the wagon as a fulcrum and the board as a lever, he lifted the middle snowball onto the base snowball while I guided it. After that, finishing our snowman was easy.

In the strictest mechanical sense, a lever is a simple machine with a rigid beam that pivots on a fulcrum or fixed hinge to magnify an input force, so the resulting leverage or output force can move heavy objects.

The concept of leverage fits equally well in the workplace, where applying it can facilitate smooth, on-the-spot strategic execution. The same basic components of leverage used to move a snowball apply to any business system. You can leverage physical and financial assets, experience, skill sets, specialized knowledge, and relationships to get the right people in the right roles. This means using the right tools to squeeze every bit of productive work from your team. It's also the epitome of learning to do more with less – a powerful principle in today's resource-poor workplaces.

An efficient organization is one that operates with leverage already in place:

- The Effort/Input Force = the leader (you)
- The Lever/Beam = the worker (employee or team)
- The Fulcrum/Pivot = the enabler (tool or resource)
- The Load/Object = your organization (what you're trying to move with your strategy)

The interaction of these components is said to create leverage. Depending upon the strength of your strategy, the leverage created (the output force) can move the object



(your organization). If the interaction of this simple machine with its component parts creates enough leverage, your organization will move where you want it to go. Without the right parts in place, movement will be much more difficult.

Put another way, the ability to lift the "snowball" in your organization requires increased input force. This is achieved either through a stronger leader, a longer and stronger beam (team members), or a fulcrum of more appropriate size, height, or position (tool or approach), or perhaps even a lighter snowball.

You'll find it well worth the effort to develop or acquire the authority to leverage your resources and assets at will, not to mention those of your allies and partners. Why? Having the ability to apply the right amount of force at just the right time allows you to take advantage of fast-moving opportunities that may knock only once.



Chapter 1: Maximize Your Leadership Input Force

In the leadership leverage machine, your input strength is nothing less than your leadership ability. You get more power into your lever by becoming a stronger leader. Today's simpler information exchange, better communications, and increased mobility have changed the meaning of "leader." Here's how you can take advantage of the recent reset in business attitudes:

- **1.** Accept that the dictatorial days are over. The most effective leaders no longer just hand down pronouncements from on high; they act as partners with the front-line workers responsible for execution.
- 2. Delegate your authority widely. You can't keep up with everything in your field, especially if you're not on the front line making it happen daily. You're better off delegating your authority as effectively and as widely as possible, encouraging creativity and risk-taking on the part of individual team members allowing them to transform the organization from within.
- **3.** Work for your team. In a sense, you work for your team just as much as they work for you. You're the facilitator, the visionary, and cheerleader everyone looks to for encouragement to do what needs to be done to move forward quickly. You're the rallying point, a catalyst triggering ideas and action, allowing people to succeed without getting in their way.
- **4. Speed up your execution process.** In most modern industries, any strategy more than a few months old is outdated. An executive team can no longer make decisions years in advance and expect them to survive exposure to reality. As we recover from the Great Recession, it's no longer possible to survive without being lean, mean, and *fast.* Otherwise, you risk eating the competition's dust.
- **5. Give your team members the freedom to do their jobs.** As the leader, shape the overall vision for your team, communicate and agree on tactics, and let your team take it from there. Don't adopt a purely hands-off approach; so-called "Management by Exception" fails on too many levels. But don't micromanage either. Let your team apply their past experience to the situation, combining it imaginatively to create innovative new approaches.

Trust your team to tell you what they need to do to achieve your vision, and then get out of their way. That's where true leadership lies — not in straitjacketing people with inflexible rules and hidebound strategies. A looser approach sets you up for the next step in maximizing the productivity of your leverage machine.



Chapter 2: Strengthen the Beam

Once you've optimized the force you apply to the strategic execution lever, you'll need to make sure the lever itself can handle the force before you apply it too vigorously. In our leverage model, the lever's beam represents your employees, both individually and collectively.

The best way to strengthen the beam of your organizational lever is to have the right people in the right places, armed with the skills they need to execute in the moment and get the job done. It's up to you to strengthen each team member's ability to execute strategy in every way possible.

- 1. Balance talent and hard work. Find the person with the right strengths needed to maximize the Personal Return on Investment (PROI) for each job on your team. Talent is a wonderful thing, but let's face it: it's useless without that American Dream, can-do attitude. Your people must consistently reach beyond their grasp in ways that benefit both themselves and the company. It's critical to recruit and hire talented hard workers, but often effort trumps talent.
- 2. Spot the high-performers right away. Learn to recognize the difference between high performers and average workers at a glance, so you don't waste time on plodders. They may be good people, but you succeed best by hitching yourself to a star.
- **3. Mentor newbies**. Even the strongest beam may crack if it's too green. Place new employees with experienced workers to mentor them and show them the ropes. Invest time providing new team members with the coaching they need to gain more seasoning and excel in their roles.
- **4. Invest in training.** When you add new people to the team, make sure they get any additional training or knowledge needed to maximize their efficiency and execute more effectively. As fast as business moves, this won't be a one-time thing, so check in with each team member occasionally to see which skills they need to hone or add.

Once your beam can handle your input force, it's time to experiment with changing the position and height of your fulcrum, so all the elements of your leverage machine lock together into a smooth, powerful whole that produces like never before.



Chapter 3: Improve the Fulcrum

To take full advantage of workplace leverage, strive not only to strengthen yourself and your employees, but also to reposition or even replace your fulcrum. The fulcrum is the hinge or pivot a beam acts against to multiply the input force. It could be a handy rock, a log, or a seesaw pivot point. At work, a good fulcrum should be the right size, height, and position to work most effectively with your productivity machine.

So how do you make sure you're using the correct fulcrum to coax maximum leverage from your system?

- 1. Equip your team members with the right tools. Provide employees with laptops, software, smartphones, fast Internet whatever it takes to maximize their productivity. In fact, let them provide their own tools if they want. If someone is willing to use their personal equipment or their own time for *your* benefit, you'd have to be crazy to say no.
- **2. Provide unrestricted access to your resources.** Similarly, let your employees link their personal tools into your intranets and archives. Don't respond like so many shortsighted, paranoid leaders do, restricting access to company resources. It's inefficient to require them to use and attempt to sync between multiple devices.
- **3. Outsource to experts**. Outsourcing is simply a form of subcontracting, where you hire people to do something you can't economically do in-house. That may include anything from washing windows to handling the bookkeeping or fielding tech support calls. With the Internet, you can quickly reach right around the world to develop these relationships or just as far as next door.
- **4. Develop new partnerships.** Share resources with other teams, seek new alliances with other organizations, and maximize your vendor relationships.
- **5. Be careful about what you cut.** Short-term cuts to lighten the load may seem viable now, but they could prove disastrous in the long term...especially if they deprive you of skilled employees and resources you'll need later. Rather than resort to drastic surgical measures, find ways to increase your team's productivity instead.

You have many options for improving the fulcrum of your team leverage machine, as noted above. Done correctly, you'll enjoy long-term results that will put your team consistently ahead in the marketplace without worrying about loss of quality, value, or reputation.



PART 2: ENVIRONMENT

E	Environment	Mechanic: fix it	Culture/Engagement
---	-------------	------------------	--------------------

Effective execution depends on establishing a productive, supportive work environment. In turn, a successful work environment depends on workplace culture. A company's culture guides discretionary behavior, picking up where the employee handbook leaves off. It's defined by what happens when the CEO leaves the room.

Ideally, you should encourage an organizational environment in which employees strive to "own" their jobs in the best sense of the word: where they take initiative to align themselves with overriding strategic goals, pitch in enthusiastically, collaborate gracefully, and innovate without permission or fear of reprisal.

So, are you:

- 1. Creating a culture that helps employees feel confident, capable, and in control of the outcome of their work?
- 2. Building an atmosphere that encourages and accepts change?
- 3. Engaging and empowering people to do their work, without excessive oversight?

These critical environmental factors ensure commitment to the company's core mission and vision, which results in greater productivity over the long term. So don your mechanic's hat and get ready to fix anything preventing your team from achieving your goals.



Chapter 4: Shape the Culture

Employees make hundreds of independent decisions every week without consulting their superiors. What guides them? Organizational culture. It tells them how to respond to workplace situations, from handling unprecedented service requests to whether or not to risk telling the boss a new idea.

Many senior managers struggle with this concept, because they find it difficult to define. Culture is like a cloud: You know it's there, but it's nearly impossible to grasp. How do you come to a consensus on culture, and then get dozens, hundreds, or even thousands of people to think and act the way you've agreed on? You don't, really: culture evolves over time. But you can direct its evolution. Keep these things in mind while doing so:

- 1. **Develop an attitude of excellence for your team to follow.** Refuse to accept good enough as good enough. Make personal integrity your touchstone. Walk the talk and show them how it's done.
- 2. Lay a foundation of accountability. Everyone must accept both credit and blame for the results of their actions. A non-punitive environment will make this easier to encourage. Most people perform better when held accountable for their results.
- 3. **Build a culture of action and teamwork on your accountability foundation.** People must work together to make execution happen, and take calculated risks to improve their processes or projects even knowing they might fail.
- 4. **Slash through the red tape.** Your team needs the time and uninterrupted focus to maximize production. Remove bureaucratic hurdles so they get plenty of both.
- 5. **Emphasize an atmosphere of community.** Collaboration, consensus, and mutual help all encourage a cooperative culture where everyone works together without excessive friction, remaining open to multiple perspectives and opinions.

You can't just say you want your culture to be agile, accountable, and top-quality, and then expect it to happen. What matters most is the synergistic combination of attitude and action in the workplace. Culture is not a goal to be mandated; it's the outcome of a collective set of behaviors. Dedicate yourself to developing those desired behaviors, instill them in your team members, and let those rules guide them as they meet change head on. Their weapon? Instant execution.



Chapter 5: Encourage Change Hardiness

The only constant in business is change. One way or another, waves of transformation constantly flow through most organizations as they fight to get or stay ahead in the competitive global marketplace. So keep these pointers in mind while dealing with change:

- 1. Don't make changes for change's sake alone. We've all experienced the "new broom sweeps clean" effect, suffering as a fresh leader came onto the scene and changed everything just because he or she could regardless of how well the existing system functioned. Whenever this happens, chaos reigns and productivity plummets, and sometimes it never recovers.
- 2. Accept change as inevitable. Many changes are desirable, so greet change as a friend; go with the flow, and view it as an opportunity to grow and learn. Conservatism has its place, but if you refuse to change, you may end up breaking when you need to bend.
- **3.** Roll with change as it occurs. Otherwise, old inefficiencies may pile up until work grinds to a halt or the latest opportunity passes you by. What doesn't grow either stagnates or rots. Like the dinosaurs, you'll die if you can't evolve.
- **4. Spark innovation**. Seek some levels of change at the creative level. Encourage risktaking. This often results in profitable new ways to conduct business, or in inventive new products and services. Make incremental improvements when necessary, and take quantum leaps when possible.
- **5. Bounce back quickly.** When a change unexpectedly knocks you flat, get up immediately and do what you can to take advantage of it. Flexible entities survive the storms, while those too old or slow to respond to what's coming over the horizon may shatter.
- 6. Don't let fear hold you back. Face change head on and take the risks you think will put you ahead when the change-wave has passed. Once you've crashed through the fear barrier, there's no telling what you can accomplish.

We live in a dynamic world. A line graph tracking change in the last few centuries manifests as a steep parabolic curve with no end in sight — and the billions of vibrant personalities comprising humankind make it all the more chaotic.



Chapter 6: Ensure Engaged, Empowered Employees

When you have a lot at stake or a very high interest in an outcome, you're more likely to do a better job (or at least try to). Your team members feel the same way. If they don't enjoy their work, they won't be motivated to spend discretionary effort on the strategic goals you set for them. Wouldn't you rather be surrounded by people in whom you have the full trust and confidence that they will get things done?

Your team will have more ownership in their work if you encourage them to take initiative, improve processes, and make last-minute changes vital to timely execution. Here are some simple, common-sense ways to achieve that confident competence:

- **1. Increase your ratio of engaged to disengaged employees.** This requires not only personal strength but flexibility and empathy as well. If you end up with competent employees who make you and your organization shine, it's worth every bit of effort.
- 2. Give people reasons to try harder. You can apply a variety of factors to the manager/employee relationship to encourage engagement, but the most important seem to be to (a) trust in their abilities and judgment; (b) provide opportunities for training and growth; (c) keep the communications lines open; and (d) show them how their efforts contribute to organizational goals.
- **3.** Be there for them. Schedule regular one-on-one meetings with each of your team members, have "open door" periods of availability, and get down in the trenches to visit rather than hiding behind your desk.
- **4. Motivate.** Ultimately, employees work hard for you because they choose to. Give them reasons to excel: motivations like monetary rewards, time off, praise, and promotions for those who produce. Make consistent efforts to influence team members in positive ways, varying your attempts with each person to see what works best.
- 5. Empower your teammates. The worst thing you can do as a leader is jealously hold onto every smidgen of authority that comes with your job. Instead, commit to empowerment, delegating your authority as widely as you can. Make it clear you appreciate initiative. But remember: ultimate responsibility for your team's actions always belongs to you.

If you can persuade your team members to give you more of their discretionary effort, productivity will skyrocket — and you'll be walking on sunshine.



PART 3: ALIGNMENT

Α	Alignment	Conductor: steer it	Communication/Productivity
---	-----------	---------------------	----------------------------

Like a conductor of a symphony, today's leader is out front watching what's going on, keeping everyone on the right track, steering team members toward the organization's strategic priorities, and listening to their best ideas on how to get there.

Alignment means your strategic priorities and the day-to-day operations of your team are synchronized. Their tactics are carrying out your strategies.

The old "command and control" structure no longer works. As I pointed out in my recent book, *What to Do When There's Too Much to Do*, there's a constant pressure in the business world to do more and become more productive, creating a rush to cram even more work into the limited time we have and the minutes we save.

Ironically, the only way to accomplish more is to do less. That is, to cut back on less productive and less profitable activities in favor of what matters most and achieves a greater result. In this book, I elevate this central concept to the leadership level. All people who are successful, innovative, and creative want to do more and more. But down that route lies strain, fatigue, burnout, family issues, and even death (as expressed in the Japanese concept of *karoshi*).

As leader, you have to take a hand in helping your team members harness their overachiever tendencies in a positive way, so you can maximize productivity and maintain it at a reasonable level. While you'll always have to work hard, it's best to focus on the outcome, which must align tightly with overarching organizational goals as well as your team's goals.

To accomplish this, pick a small number of goals to work on at a time – or the law of diminishing returns will come into play. Your people already have their regular daily activities to handle. If you add too much to their plates, they may feel defeated and give up, so work within the limits set by reality. Better to hit three goals solidly than twenty halfway. Have you heard Voltaire's classic adage, "The perfect is the enemy of the good"? Trying to do too many things too well often results in the paralysis of analysis, a sort of mental vapor lock in which you accomplish nothing significant.

Remember, whenever you say "yes," to something, you have to say "no" to something else. Realizing that, help your team focus their finite energy and time on activities that will support your strategic priorities. This may involve setting reasonable limits and ending one failing project to make room for a better one.



As a leader, how can you accomplish this? Begin by helping your people internalize the rules of alignment based on thoroughly knowing the goals themselves. It's the day-today action that moves the needle, so make sure that what your team is doing right now will get you to where you need to be.

Specifically, your team members need to know:

- Why should they care? Why is the mission important and compelling to them?
- *What is the goal*? What are they expected to achieve, so they know when they've arrived?
- *How do we get there*? Who's responsible for what? What's the timeline for completion? How will you measure milestones and otherwise keep track of progress? What will other team members do to help? What rewards (intrinsic or extrinsic) will they receive? How will you hold them accountable for the desired results?

In this part of the book, we'll look at answers to those key questions.



Chapter 7: Take Your Team on a Mission

Your ability to clearly articulate your strategic priorities depends on understanding why you're here and what you're trying to accomplish. That's all that really matters in the work environment. To create a motivated, empowered team, each member has to care about where they're going and why they should bother. Invite your employees to go on a mission with you, keeping these things in mind:

- **1.** Teach the value of the organization's priorities. Help your team members understand why your strategic priorities are important, whether at the team, department, division, or company level.
- 2. Show them why what they do matters. To align team effort with the company's needs and make team members more willing to execute your strategy on the fly, emphasize how their efforts fit within the overall scheme designed to move the organization forward. Spell out why their success and productivity matter to you and the company and explain the consequences of failure.
- **3. Demonstrate why what they want matters**. Acknowledge that the realignment effort may well mean more work for them, at least in the short term. But at the same time, they'll have more freedom to achieve than they ever have before.
- **4. Emphasize the positive.** The whole "Execution IS the Strategy" concept allows you and your team to grab the ball on the bounce and immediately drive toward the end zone, without getting tangled up in the web of a long-term plan that's outdated the instant it's published.
- 5. Accept the new reality of leadership. Smart leaders partner and collaborate with their team members, outlining the vision, facilitating their work, and urging them on. Sculpt the plan and polish it up brightly, laying out the deadlines and the broad outlines before giving team members the ball and letting them run with it.

Your team won't care about much more than their paychecks unless you inspire them otherwise. If you can get them sincerely interested in achieving the organization's goals, then come the end of the quarter, you might just make it to your industry's equivalent of the Super Bowl.



Chapter 8: Plan for Goal Achievement

Good strategic alignment consists of practices that connect organizational strategy with employee performance as fully and directly as possible. When you properly align your organizational structure, your employees act as strategic enablers of company policy, mission, and vision — all working from the same standards toward the same ends. This chapter looks at useful strategies for getting your team into alignment and keeping it there.

- **1. Share your goals.** Only when you willingly share your goals with everyone *and* set up procedures to make sure people stay on track can true alignment occur. Goalsetting can no longer be limited to the C-suite. When your strategic priorities trickle down, work with your team to determine how best to get there.
- 2. Clear the air. People mistrust or distrust the ambiguous so be crystal clear about what your team members should be accomplishing in their daily activities. When you communicate your expectations, you're more likely to get what you want, and everyone becomes more productive and effective.
- **3. Remove obstacles to alignment.** Make every effort to clear bottlenecks, break down information silos, cut redundancy, limit confusion, and otherwise maximize productivity.
- **4.** Work toward coherence. Maximal alignment requires a high level of coherence, made up of the proper measures of communication, education, and oversight.
- **5. React as the situation requires.** Let front-line employees take the ball and carry it forward when the solution is obvious to them. This is especially necessary when the rate of change doesn't allow time for classic goal trickledown from the top.
- 6. One size does not fit all. How much of each ingredient you should add to your "alignment recipe" depends on the nature and size of your organization and the performance management tools available to you. Determining the right amounts requires careful testing, undertaken with a clear-eyed willingness to learn.

In the game of business, we keep score with dollars. Profit represents the real-world manifestation of the combination of drive, focus, and efficiency we call productivity. That means ensuring that your team members stay busy at what matters and in ways that move everyone toward the prize.



Chapter 9: Measure Your Progress

You must link strategic planning and goal setting, with everyone on the team having goals that support the plan *and* each other. Not only do all involved have to perform the day-to-day tactical tasks that drive the operation, they also have to work on the higher-level, strategic goals as well – the parts that will eventually become their daily work. Along the way, they must constantly assess whether the tasks they complete in the short term will get them where they need to go in the long term.

This chapter takes a closer look at the process in the context of metrics, and how they might apply to your organization.

- **1. Plan your course.** Once you've (a) achieved buy-in, (b) set goals, and (c) made efforts to align those goals with your organization's goals, you must decide how you and your team will get there, and what to do when you wander off-course. If the actual destination changes, be prepared to plot a new route.
- 2. Keep an eye on your instruments. Track metrics like cash flow, budget and schedule, quality of work, hours worked per process, customer satisfaction, and return on investment. Once you have those instruments in place and have a good idea of your overall situation, you can add and subtract specific metrics as conditions require. Guard against excessive controls, lest they stymie innovation.
- **3.** Let your team members run plays their way. Your people will never improve, either as a team or as individuals, if you don't relinquish some of your authority to them, get out of the way, and let them do things as they see best. Your job is to offer vision and guidance; theirs is to get the work done.
- **4. Recognize the difference between strategy and tactics.** Strategy is long-term planning; tactics are the short-term methods and tools you use to accomplish your strategy. Maintain a firm grasp on the difference, while educating your employees on the distinction as well.
- **5.** Encourage accountability. Accountability is a team linchpin; it links all of you at all levels, helping your people take serious ownership of their jobs while you exercise the ultimate responsibility. It's a heavy load, falling mostly on your shoulders. Step forward, take up the challenge, and use it to carve your own niche out of the business jungle in your own style. Let your people do the same, within the broad guidelines you set.
- **6. Slay the dragon of complacency.** Few things can kill an organization more effectively than a false sense of security. Thus, always hope for the best but plan for the worst you can imagine.



7. Conquer crises. You can't plan for everything, but you can put generalized crisis plans into place that trigger when an applicable emergency occurs. Be flexible, and use the SLLR method to respond: Stop, Look, Listen, and Respond. Don't hesitate to involve others when you need their help, and conduct post-mortems after the fact so you're better prepared for the next crisis.

Remember, no battle plan survives contact with the enemy. Whatever happens, you and your crew must be ready, willing, and allowed to adapt on the fly. With enough effort and the right tools, you can eventually build a voluntary culture of accountability in which you don't have to ride people to get them to do the right things at the right times. Then you can execute your strategy instinctively, no matter what happens.



By Laura Stack

PART 4: DRIVE

D	Drive	Bulldozer: Knock It Down	Speed/Agility

As a leader, your greatest importance may lie in clearing the way forward for your team members. This typically involves smoothing out the speed bumps and removing any obstacles that block task execution, particularly the procedural ones. Think of yourself as a bulldozer, or, better yet, as a lineman on a football team protecting the ball carrier as he advances.

In a workplace context, you might guard your people from bureaucratic red tape by taking it on yourself, while making sure they have sufficient resources and facilities to get their work done. Your team must drive, push, move, and speed toward the goal with a sense of urgency. You're there to help them maintain the momentum.

Small businesses often have an easier time keeping momentum going than large corporations. The reason is simple: momentum is about growth and the ability to move forward. Smaller businesses can move more quickly, like speedboats; large organizations resemble cruise ships, and are harder to turn on a dime.

As a leader in a large organization, you might have encountered obstacles or tremendous setbacks in the past. If you feel defeated or frustrated, it might be difficult to remain passionate, forward-looking, and hopeful. That's when building momentum feels like one more thing you have to do. And that's when, instead of embodying momentum, you see obstacles instead.

How can you eliminate whatever flies in the face of momentum and your team's forward drive? How much faster would your team be if they:

- Learned how to handle e-mail more efficiently?
- Found more time to think strategically?
- Weren't distracted by technology?
- Didn't spend so much time in meetings?
- Stopped being interrupted so frequently?
- Prioritized tasks better and stopped being reactive?

You be the judge – and the bulldozer.



Chapter 10: Remove Obstacles from the Path

As it relates to a system or machine, efficiency is defined as "achieving maximum productivity with minimum wasted effort or expense." As it relates to people in the workplace, it's achieving "maximum results in minimum time" — the trademark and tagline of my firm, The Productivity Pro, Inc.

Time is the most costly component of human capital. As a leader, one of your jobs is to make it easier for your people to succeed more quickly. You can act as team bulldozer by knocking over anything that interferes with their accomplishment. Here's how:

- 1. **Challenge people to work though processes more effectively.** This may involve everything from finding time to think more strategically, to switching from a reactive approach to a proactive one, to using sticky notes as a way to diagram a process and try to cut out steps.
- 2. Instill the need for speed into your team. You can increase your culture's agility by reducing time-to-market and cycle speed for all essential processes, to avoid having to eat your competition's dust. Eliminate any internal processes that don't add anything of value to the customer.
- **3.** Encourage continuous improvement. Concepts like Lean, Sigma Six, or Kaizen establish a means to eliminate waste and up productivity through consistent improvement. Establish a mindset of always getting better.
- **4. Speed up your decision-making process.** Avoid the paralysis of analysis. Establish guidelines for making decisions, especially those involving strategic execution. Sometimes seconds count.
- **5. Short-circuit groupthink.** A team of yes-people is useless. While close collaboration remains a must, listen to everyone's opinions, including those of the quieter group members. It's too easy for a few assertive individuals to take control of the team.
- 6. **Avoid perfectionism.** You and your team are human beings. Rather than trying to be perfect, adopt a realistic approach in which you take advantage of human energy, initiative, and action to implement strategic execution in the moment.

All teams include someone who makes things easier for others to do their jobs. On a football team, blockers protect the quarterback and receivers. In the white-collar world, the team leader is the one who eliminates the obstacles, from crushing groupthink, to speeding up decision-making, to being a realist rather than a perfectionist.



Chapter 11: Add Enablers to the Equation

In addition to smoothing the way for your team by removing procedural obstacles, it behooves you to facilitate their work in other ways as well. The less time they have to waste, the easier it will be for them to maximize their productivity and their ability to execute in the moment. The enablers I suggest in this chapter include:

- **1. Employ the THINK method**. Urge your team members to better themselves by Taking care of their health, Honing their memories, Improving focus, Nourishing their brains, and leveraging Knowledge as power.
- 2. Keep technology up-to-date. The right equipment such as fast computers or double monitors, the right software such as instant messaging and webcasting, and the right equipment such as video conferencing, can all increase productivity when used correctly. Just be sure to strike the proper balance; weigh the pros and cons of any new technology before adopting it, and be vigilant in its application.
- **3. Triage the non-urgent.** Trim away anything that doesn't contribute to strategic execution. If the biggest problem is hidebound attitudes and out-of-date strategy, take an ax to it! When cutting, look for long-term advantages, not short-term profits and realize you'll have to remove something for everything you add, or you and your teammates risk stress and overwork.
- 4. Clear communication. Keep your phrasing and delivery as clear as possible to maximize productivity. Be assertive and straightforward; never hem and haw. Use simple language and avoid jargon. Immediately acknowledge any communications you receive, and require acknowledgment from those you communicate with. Let them ask questions until they understand what you need. Time is money, so waste as little of it as you can.

Keep a tight grip on the realization that you're primarily the visionary and facilitator on your team. It's rare that you'll be the one down there on the front line making it happen, so do everything you can to make life easier for those responsible for execution. The easier it is for them the move forward, the more productive you'll all be. You'll do more with less work and shine while doing it.



Chapter 12: Eliminate Time Wasters

How much of the average worker's day is spent doing things that have nothing to do with furthering their work? It varies according to the person and job, but you know it happens. Time wasting — whether deliberate or not — may be the most pervasive obstacle to productivity in the white collar world. Just as you would smooth your team's way by removing procedural obstacles and providing methodologies and technologies that propel them forward, it's up to you to chop out the time wasters, too.

Here are some ways to help you and your team recapture your time.

- 1. **Root out procrastination**. This may be the worst time waster of all. We all procrastinate sometimes, whether because we feel overwhelmed, fear failure, dislike a task, don't want to run out of work or know we'll be overwhelmed with work if we prove too efficient. Make it clear to your team that these are bogus excuses and help them move forward with productive work.
- **2.** Know what not to do. It's important to quickly decide what to do next. But it's equally important to decide what *not* to do next. Choose the appropriate course of action by design, not by default, to maximize your productivity as a unit.
- **3. Know what must come next.** Prioritize, prioritize, prioritize. Use a to-do list to formally define what to do each day and perform the most vital activities first or during your peak energy period. Allow lower-priority items to fall off the end of the list if you run out of time; practice purposeful abandonment when you must.
- **4.** Limit your meetings. Set specific time-lengths for meetings and stick to them. Don't let anyone go off on tangents or take more time than they need. Don't go to meetings without clear objectives, and limit the number of people you invite to yours. Otherwise, they'll proliferate and stifle productive momentum.
- **5. Give your people time to be strategic enablers of business.** If your team members are always running around from meeting to meeting, interrupting each other, and returning to an overflowing inbox, they won't have time to focus on high-value tasks. Workers need time to think without other people interrupting. They must balance the need to be available with the need to concentrate. It's a delicate balance, but one you can help them achieve by setting team protocols.
- 6. Eliminate distractions. Implement practices that help people focus on their work, not the noisy office: Provide cubicle doors, ban hallway discussions, turn all desks away from the doors, and allow the use of noise-canceling headsets.



7. Embrace work/life balance. Our predecessors chose eight hours as the ideal work day, because after eight hours, fatigue and stress cause productivity to decline. Working too long is hazardous to your health and relationships. If you want to maximize productivity, don't let people work too long or hard without going home or taking time off.

Open your mind, maintain your health (both mental and physical), limber up, and rededicate yourself to winning the productivity race. Push yourself to do what you must when you must, avoid what you must, and shave wasted time right out of your team's schedule.



CONCLUSION

"*No battle plan survives contact with the enemy.*" — Helmuth von Moltke the Elder, nineteenth-century Prussian field marshal

It doesn't matter how good a leader you are if you can't execute your strategy right now, in the moment, in a way that fits conditions as they currently exist—not as they existed five minutes ago, or five months ago, or five years ago. That kind of lag time might have been acceptable once, but the Great Recession and the banking crisis have reset our collective business reality. Today, the only logical strategy is the one that facilitates implementing your task, product, service, or offer in the smoothest, fastest, most cost-efficient way possible.

To reiterate the central thesis and title of this book, execution *is* the strategy that will allow you to remain relevant, innovative, and competitive in the global marketplace of modern business. As a leader, your goal should be to produce results in the form that most pleases your stakeholders and end users, while being consistently achievable by your employees. Admittedly, bringing those two requirements into equilibrium can be challenging.

Not to put too fine a point on it, but only results matter in the end. As a leader, it's your duty and privilege to implement and execute strategies that produce maximum results on every level of the business ladder. If we can't profitably produce, no amount of good intentions will help us.

If you find yourself choking on your competitors' dust, you can't achieve anything worthwhile unless you change your behavior, both as an individual and as an organization. Despite occasional stumbles, wise leaders have begun to realize this truth and act on it.

Strategic Planning in the Now

In recent years, companies scrambling to keep up with the frantic pace of our brave new world have changed the way they conduct strategic planning. We've always practiced strategic planning at some level, of course, and we still need it today; but what we meant by the term as few as five years ago barely resembles today's reality. This should come as no surprise in an era when last month's smartphone can't run this month's apps.

Once upon a time, strategic planning was a leisurely process, hidebound and bureaucratic. Some managers still treat it as such; worse, they see strategic planning as something mysteriously created by senior executives and/or outside consultants. They perceive execution as little more than the downstream part of the process. The senior



leadership decides what to do, while staff members take the decision and run with it along a very narrow, predetermined path, complete with detailed financials.

We know this process doesn't work well anymore. More often than not, an entire market suddenly shifts, or an employee comes across an opportunity that must be seized in the moment, requiring operational action that in turn alters the strategic direction. So at the end of the year, when (and if) the plan is reviewed, what the executors actually did is often not what the leaders outlined. Companies must adapt on the fly to fit current realities; if they fail to adapt, the company takes a hit. Enough hits, and it'll be down for the count.

Strategic Planning Belongs on the Front Line, Too

Leaders still play a crucial role in strategy, because someone must communicate the goals and priorities to the workers. But today's business world is too unpredictable to straitjacket your front-liners with last year's strategies. Keep the following principles in mind as you proceed with your strategic planning.

Think Around Corners

I could fill another book with things no one thought would ever happen but did anyway – and almost always suddenly. The *Challenger* and *Columbia* space shuttle tragedies. The fall of the Berlin Wall in a matter of days. The collapse of the Soviet Union soon after. CDs and DVDs, which revolutionized data storage and entertainment, as did cloud storage later. Guns N' Roses even released its album *Chinese Democracy*.

Everything is in a state of flux, more so than at any other time in history. Futurists tell us everything will only move faster, such that we can't predict with any clarity what business will be like forty or fifty years from now. Back in the 1950s and 1960s, few people foresaw the modern desktop computer revolution – not even computer experts. Imagine what modern leaders will completely fail to foresee today, simply because we can't imagine how or to what extent things will change.

Clearly, the old-fashioned three-to-five-year strategic plans don't work anymore. At best, you can only plan a year or so ahead, and even then, you'd better review your strategy quarterly, monthly, weekly, even daily in some cases. Office Depot is an example of a company that caught on to this quickly; in first quarter 2009, the company began reviewing its annual budget monthly, a practice resulting in several profitable mid-course changes thus far. Many companies have followed suit.



Exercise Serious Agility

In today's business environment, you can generate better results if you engage your workers and create an agile corporate culture full of strategic thinkers. The military realized this long ago. The officers don't do the physical work or even decide how to do it; their job is to tell the non-commissioned officers (NCOs) to get it done. The NCOs pass the work down the line; whoever the buck stops with has to figure out how to best accomplish the task. The idea is to just do it and not worry about the planning. Despite common misperceptions, the military has never wanted brainless killers who automatically and thoughtlessly execute their orders. They want well-trained people who can think on their feet and figure out the best way to accomplish a goal.

The same goes for business, especially as we manufacture strategy daily on the front lines. Workers must be empowered to take ownership of their jobs, engage without fear of censure, and act on what they know best without waiting for permission from the chain of command. Many battles have been lost, both in warfare and in business, to slow decision making by home-front leaders. They had no idea what life was like on the front line, or what strategies were required to win the battle where and when it was actually occurring.

Accept Your New Leadership Role

Rather than simply issuing orders and expecting team members to follow them blindly, encourage them to do what they already know they need to do. Accept the fact that, despite your leadership role, they're the ones at the sharp end of the stick. Don't lose sight of the fact that modern leadership is more of a partnership than ever before. Work may not be a democracy, but it's definitely not a dictatorship anymore. Circumstances change too fast.

Be the change leader when you must and the visionary when you can. Give your team all the facts they need to advance, and allow them a free hand to shift course and goals quickly. Let them tell you the best way to achieve your priorities—and get out of their way. Maintain the conversation as a positive feedback loop. That way, they know that what works best is constantly added to and strengthens the workflow system.

Engineer Behavioral Change

A big part of your role is getting your team to accept the desirability of change, constantly and consistently. They must be willing to turn on a dime and start doing things differently whenever it's necessary for the team and organization.

The only way you can effectively change strategic execution is by compelling behavioral change among those who work for you. Business as usual has become a dead-end street



lined with empty houses. While you can attempt to change strategic execution with the stroke of a pen, what really works is winning the hearts and minds of the people on the front line, so they'll engage sufficiently to make the changes necessary to keep their jobs – and yours.

Remain Vigilant

Think that's an exaggeration? The global economy has begun to shift in a big way, moving further toward equal distribution between East and West than ever before. As China, India, and other nations make inroads into Western-style standards of living, the Fortune Global 500 has changed significantly. Management consulting firm McKinsey & Company estimates that, by 2025, 45 percent of all Fortune Global 500 companies will be based in emerging nations.

What does that mean for you? It's imperative to keep a constant eye on the horizon in this era of rapid business evolution. You should optimize your business networks to include more emerging marketplace connections, so you can ease into the market change as it occurs. Keep a close eye on both your customer base and your competition, note how their compositions are changing over time, and be prepared to realign your strategy to take advantage of those changes. If you belong to a particularly large organization, consider decentralizing so that at least some of your corporate centers are located in emerging market centers, such as Singapore, Brazil, or China.

You not only have to be prepared for change, but you also have to understand, well in advance, what type of change will most likely occur — so you won't be blindsided by unexpected events.

Couple Wishful Thinking with Positive Action

As hard-nosed as business people appear to be, we're still susceptible to wishful thinking. Consider it an occupational hazard, especially when the money's rolling in in seemingly endless quantities. But simply wishing for something hard enough won't make it come true, no matter how many celebrities and self-anointed gurus tell you so. So just saying you want to improve your strategic execution is meaningless. You must couple desire with positive action for it to matter.

Now, I'm not saying that being a cheerleader, thinking positive thoughts, and shouting, "Go, Team!" isn't a good start. Indeed, it's absolutely necessary — as long as it motivates you and your team toward something more concrete.

The reality of the last few years has left us shaking off the last remnants of our fantasies as we move into the future, if only because many of their proponents have fallen by the



wayside. Their fate has made it clear that we have no choice: if we don't face reality as it is, reality will eat us alive.

Charge in the Right Direction

Hard work and high-speed action don't matter one iota when they're pointed in the wrong direction or otherwise poorly executed.

Years ago, a well-meaning California-based environmental action group saved the lives of two seals that had been injured in accidents. After months of surgery, physical therapy, and rehabilitation, the group decided it was best to release them at the Farallon Islands off the coast of California, where there was a large population of seals for them to join. They failed to realize that the waters around the Farallons were frequented by the seals' apex predator, the great white shark; indeed, the "Devil's Teeth," as the islands were nicknamed, were famous for the size of their sharks, some of which rivaled the fictional Jaws of Steven Spielberg's film.

Within minutes of their release, the monster fish ate both seals in front of horrified witnesses. One commentator pointed out that the environmental group's actions were the equivalent of lovingly healing a man of a broken leg and then kicking him off a cliff. (If all this seems familiar, it's because the Discovery Channel recently used a variation of the scenario for its premiere Shark Week commercial of 2013.)

My point is, reality trumps naive optimism and good intentions every time. The seal team spent a huge amount of money and effort to save the two seals and then completely flubbed the final execution (an especially apt word here).

If you're enthusiastic about your business outlook and spend many hours planning how you're going to achieve your goals, that's great — as long as you combine all that with actual action designed to put your team, department, or organization at the front of the pack, pointed in the proper direction. Business is no longer just dog-eat-dog; it's more shark-eat-shark. You have no choice but to combine optimism with cautious, properly oriented implementation designed to meet change head-on. Otherwise, you may end up as the next Snuffy the Seal.

Realize That Execution IS the Strategy

Today's leaders cannot effectively dictate how to execute strategic priorities anymore; only those who execute can, because everything changes so rapidly. That said, as a leader, you're still responsible for clarifying goals and creating and organizing the strategy, so people know what they're shooting for and have some general way to get there.



Further, you can't accept that a goal has been set until the execution team has adopted it. Never blame your people for failure of strategic execution. If you haven't clarified your objectives well enough that they can name them at the drop of a hat, then how can they know what they need to do in order to achieve maximum results? If they're not sure what they're doing, they'll just go through the motions, stay busy, and keep their heads down.

So step in to show them point by point what they must accomplish and why it matters — and then take steps to reduce the whirlwind of daily work so they have time to execute the bigger goals. Make them accountable for their results, employing accurate means of measuring performance. Offer the right rewards — and, most of all, allow them to adopt flexible operational plans to fit the current reality. Do all this, and they'll achieve wonders for you.

Shift Your Mental Model

Strategy is no longer chiseled in stone; it has become as flexible and changeable as life itself. We still need leaders to articulate the mission, vision, goals, and strategy, while the team defines the tactics, which shapes the strategy, as leaders make the course corrections, in a continuous cycle.

Most important, leaders hold us to the core values that define our organizations. Many business leaders of our era have forgotten this. If we fall prey to corruption, selfcenteredness, and poor management, we pave that highway straight down. If we keep twisting our core values so far out of alignment that the public no longer trusts us, we're sunk. If we're so busy fighting our own systems that we accomplish nothing of value, we're doomed.

In today's business world, execution itself is the only strategy that matters. A decent strategy, brilliantly executed, will trump a brilliant strategy, poorly executed. As leaders and followers form tighter partnerships, the companies with the stellar strategies that follow the principles of the L-E-A-D Formula will maintain the conditions necessary to hurtle forward. Don't lose sight of what truly matters in the day-to-day battles. Execution truly is the strategy that will propel your organization to success.

Go to <u>www.ExecutionIsTheStrategy.com</u> to receive complimentary bonus material, videos, tip sheets, and book club materials.



Educational Resources from Laura Stack and The Productivity Pro, Inc.

eBook of screenshots of amazing Microsoft Outlook Task Tricks: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/Laura</u>

Subscribe to the free weekly Productivity Minute video series, delivered via email: <u>TheProductivityMinute.com</u>

Download the Laura Stack app and receive a free eBook and new productivity content weekly! <u>TheProductivityPro.com/app</u>

Laura's YouTube channel: <u>youtube.com/theproductivitypro</u>

Link with me: https://linkaudu.com/in/laurastack

Follow me: <u>twitter.com/laurastack</u>

Become a Fan of The Productivity Pro®: <u>facebook.com/productivitypro</u>

Sign up for my free weekly productivity newsletter, The Productivity Pro®: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/subscribe</u>

Laura's blog: TheProductivityPro.com/blog

Over 150 free articles for download and reprint for your company website, newsletter, or blog: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/articles</u>

12 hours of Microsoft Outlook online video training with workbooks: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/Outlook</u>

FREE downloadable worksheets, checklists, and resources: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/free</u>

Take the quizzes FREE from Laura's books: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/quizzes</u>

Get a FREE tip of the day via email: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/tip-of-the-day</u>

Resources for purchase (books, CDs, DVDs, self-study audio, video training, MP3s etc.): <u>TheProductivityPro.com/products-page</u>



By Laura Stack

For More Information

To inquire about having Laura Stack speak at your next meeting: The Productivity Pro, Inc. Phone: 303-471-7401 John@TheProductivityPro.com

Web: <u>TheProductivityPro.com</u> Blog: <u>TheProductivityPro.com/blog</u>

Connect with Laura

Twitter: @laurastack Facebook: ProductivityPro LinkedIn: LauraStack YouTube: theproductivitypro Google Plus: gplus.to/laurastack